2002

West Valley City v. Gordon R. Christensen : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(e) provides this Court's jurisdiction over appeals from misdemeanor convictions entered in a court of record.

ISSUE, STANDARDS OF REVIEW AND PRESERVATION

Did the trial court act with actual bias in cross-examining Mr. Christensen?

The issue of bias is reviewed for correctness. State v. Alonzo, 973 P.2d 1111 (Utah 1999).

Rulings on the admissibility of evidence are reviewed for correctness. Subsidiary factual findings are reviewed for clear error. Spears v. West, 2002 UT 24 at ¶ 18, 44 P.3d 742.

Counsel objected to some of the trial court's evidentiary rulings (e.g., the trial court did not intercede when the trial court assumed the role of prosecutor).

Because Utah trial courts have the duty to recuse themselves when the

“impartiality might reasonably be questioned,” Alonzo at 979 (internal quotations and citations omitted), the failure of trial counsel to move for recusal should not constitute a waiver of the issue. Cf. id. But see, State v. Tueller, 2001 UT App 317 ¶¶ 8 and 9, 37 P.3d 1180 (rejecting this argument and finding that if parties fail to file for recusal under rule 29, the appellant must establish plain error or exceptional circumstances to obtain relief on appeal).

Christensen will meet the requirements of the plain error and/or ineffective assistance of counsel doctrines to obtain relief under this issue.

The plain error doctrine requires a showing that an obvious and harmful error occurred which prejudiced the defendant’s substantial rights, although the obviousness prong may be relaxed when a highly prejudicial error occurred which is more obvious in hindsight than it likely was before the trial court. See, e.g., State v. Eldredge, 773 P.2d 29, 35 and n.8 (Utah), cert. denied, 493 U.S. 814 (1989).

To demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel, Christensen must demonstrate that trial counsel’s performance fell below objectively reasonable standards of representation, and that this objectively deficient performance was prejudicial. See e.g. Parsons v. Barnes, 871 P.2d 516, 521 (Utah), cert. denied 513 U.S. 966 (1994). The prejudice prong of the ineffective assistance of counsel doctrine requires proof of a reasonable probability of a different result in the absence of the objectively deficient performance. See e.g. State v. Lovell, 758 P.2d 909, 913 (Utah 1988).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND RULES

The following constitutional provisions, statutes, and rules pertain, and are set forth in full in the addendum to this brief: Constitution of Utah, Article I §§ 7 and 12; United States Constitution, Amendment XIV, § 1; Utah Code of Judicial Conduct Cannon 3; Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure 19 and 29.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF THE CASE, COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION

West Valley City charged Christensen with one count of D.U.I., one count of speeding, and failure to yield to an emergency vehicle (R. 7-8).

Christensen moved to suppress his prior D.U.I. convictions and his comments regarding his prior convictions (R. 30-31, 56-57). The trial court granted the motion, informing the prosecutor he did not want to go anywhere near the evidence (R. 174 at 12). The prosecutor agreed to instruct his officers not to testify about the prior D.U.I.s or about the possibility of him going to jail, and to stay within the confines of the court's ruling permitting them to say that during the course of the DUI investigation and arrest, Christensen repeatedly asked them to let him go (T. 13-14).

Following a trial, the jury convicted Christensen of all offenses charged (R. 143).

In a commitment signed August 5, 2002, Judge Christiansen sentenced Christensen to concurrent terms of one hundred and eighty, ninety and ninety days in jail, and then suspended all but sixty days and indicated a willingness to suspend an

additional fifty upon Christensen's initiation of an alcohol treatment program (R. 153-158).

Christensen timely filed his notice of appeal August 5, 2002 (R. 162-63).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the night of November 15, 2000, West Valley City Police Officer Paul Gill saw Mr. Christiansen's car speeding at the rate of forty-six miles an hour in a thirty-five mile-an-hour zone (T. 46). The officer initially activated his lights, and after following Christensen some four or five blocks, activated his siren (T. 48-49). Christensen drove for some ten blocks after the officer activated his lights, at times accelerating to seventy miles an hour, until he stopped at a dead end (T. 48-49, 51).

It was dark, snowing heavily, and was twenty-eight degrees outside (T. 50-56).

Because he felt Christensen had been evading him, Officer Gill waited for backup officer Evans, who beckoned Christensen out of his truck while Gill held a gun on the door of Christensen's truck (T. 52).

After Evans commanded him to step out of his truck, remove the keys from the ignition, and walk backwards toward the policemen's voices so they could take him into custody, Christensen got out of his truck with his hands in the air (T. 53). After he got out, his hands went back down, and Gill did not know if he was confused or non-compliant (T. 54). The police gave him a few commands and threatened to release their dog on Christensen if he did not comply (T. 55).

Christensen started to stumble and Gill believed that Christensen could not comply with their orders or did not fully understand them (T. 55). He kept turning toward the police, putting his hands down, and refusing to walk backwards (T. 55). He appeared disoriented and unsure of what to do (T. 55).

As Gill spoke with Christensen, Gill detected an odor of alcohol and assumed that this was coming from Christensen's breath (T. 55).

Gill cuffed Christensen to return to the station for field sobriety tests in fairer conditions (T. 56-57). He placed Christensen under arrest for failing to stop at the scene of the stop and issued a citation, despite Christensen's asking him to "give him a break" and not issue the citation (T. 83-85). Gill was not sure when he told Christensen he was under arrest (T. 98).

After Gill cuffed Christensen and informed Christensen he had been chasing him and asked him something perhaps pertaining to alcohol, Christensen stated, "You haven't been chasing me and I don't drink alcohol." (T. 56, 86).

Gill said that Christensen was having a hard time talking, and that Gill had to support Christensen's weight for him (T. 56). When he sat Christensen in the back of Gill's patrol car, Christensen could not put his feet in, and stared at Gill and asked him for another break (T. 56).

After some coercion to get Christensen into the patrol car, Officer Evans informed Gill that he had found a bottle of whiskey in the bed of Christensen's truck during an

impound search (T. 57, 96). Gill's DUI report form indicated that there was no evidence found during the search of Christensen's truck (T. 97). Officer Evans testified that he found a shot glass inside Christensen's truck, and an empty open bottle of whiskey in a drawer in the rear of the pickup (T. 136-37). This did not constitute an open container violation under Utah law (T. 96).

At the station, Gill noticed Christensen's eyes, but was not sure if they were droopy, glossy, pink and reddish, and he felt that Christensen had difficulty focusing directly (T. 58). Christensen spoke slowly with a thick tongue and slurred his words (T. 58). Christensen staggered down the stairs to the intoxilyzer room where the field sobriety tests were to occur, and Gill helped him by holding his arm and supporting his weight (T. 59).

Christensen stuttered from side to side and swayed from front to back, and because of injuries he claimed to have had, Gill was uncomfortable having him perform a one-leg stand or nine step walk and turn (T. 59, 63).

Christensen said he was 77 years old, when in fact he was 67 (T. 60). Christensen seemed unhappy with Gill and also told Gill, "I am not very thorough with you." (T. 60-61).

Christensen complained of physical maladies, but did not tell Gill that he was a diabetic or was suffering from low blood sugar (T. 61-62). Had he complained of such an illness, Gill would have called Christensen's physician (T. 63).

Gill performed the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus test, which he explained as follows:

The horizontal gaze nystagmus is a test which we use to determine – initially when we're taught alcohol, someone's blood alcohol, a guy is going to react a certain way once you are affected by alcohol. There's a total (inaudible) screen which I'm looking for. The eyes pursue (inaudible). I mean as an example, if someone is not under the influence of alcohol, following an object it will be very smooth, kind of like a marble rolling (inaudible). Once alcohol is involved that pursuit begins to – it becomes rough, scratchy, they have a hard time focusing and your marble smoothness goes away. You also have nystagmus which is the uncontrollable balancing of the eye which occurs at a certain area and continues through maximum, what we call maximum deviation (inaudible) followed up to here as far as you can go, that's maximum.

(T. 63-64).¹

¹An contrasting and excellent discussion of the theory behind and proper application of the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus test is found in State v. Witte, 836 P.2d 1110 (Kan. 1992), where the court stated,

The National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) has researched and recommended a battery of field sobriety tests to assist in this determination. The NHTSA claims the HGN test is an accurate and effective field sobriety test to determine whether a driver's alcohol concentration is above .10.

Nystagmus is "an involuntary rapid movement of the eyeball, which may be horizontal, vertical, rotatory, or mixed." HGN is "a jerking of the eyes as they gaze to the side. Many people will exhibit some nystagmus, or jerking, as their eyes track to the extreme side. However, as people become intoxicated, the onset of the nystagmus, or jerking, occurs after fewer degrees of lateral deviation, and the jerking at the more extreme angles becomes more distinct." 1983 NHTSA Study at 2.

"The theory behind the gaze nystagmus test is that there is a strong correlation between the amount of alcohol a person consumes and the angle of onset of the nystagmus."

No special equipment is needed to administer the HGN test. The driver is instructed to keep his head stationary and follow an object, such as

Gill asked Christensen to touch the tip of his pen at the outset, but Christensen touched the pen in the middle, rather than the tip (T. 64-65).

The officer's next description of the test was as follows:

The next part is I asked Mr. Christensen to follow my pen as I moved it slowly, keeping his head still and focusing on the pen with his

a pen, a penlight, or the officer's finger, with his eyes. The object is held at the driver's eye level and positioned about 12 to 15 inches away from the driver's eyes. The NHTSA then instructs officers:

"Check the suspect's right eye by moving the object to the suspect's right. Have the suspect follow the object until the eyes cannot move further to the side. Make this movement in about two seconds, and observe: 1) whether the suspect was about to follow the object smoothly or whether the motion was jerky; and 2) how distinct the nystagmus is at the maximum deviation.

"Move the object a second time to the 45-degree angle of gaze, taking about four seconds. As the eye follows the object, watch for it to start jerking back and forth. If you think you see nystagmus, stop the movement to see if the jerking continues. If it does, this point is the angle of onset. If it does not, keep moving the object until the jerking does occur or until you reach the imaginary 45-degree line. Note whether or not the onset occurs before the 45-degree angle of gaze. (The onset point at a BAC of 0.10 percent is about 40 degrees.)"

This procedure is repeated for the left eye.

There are three possible signs of intoxication for each eye:

"Angle of Onset -- the more intoxicated a person becomes, the sooner the jerking will occur as the eyes move to the side.

"Maximum Deviation -- the greater the alcohol impairment the more distinct the nystagmus is when the eyes are as far to the side as possible.

"Smooth Pursuit -- an intoxicated person often cannot follow a slowly moving object smoothly with his eyes."

A score of six points is possible, three for each eye. According to the NHTSA, if a driver scores four or more points, the driver's BAC is above .10.

Id. at 1112-1113 (citations omitted).

eyes moving and eyes only. When I did that, Mr. Christensen began to follow the pen and right off, initially as soon as he started this, you could start to see the pursuit in the eyes. He slowly and gradually kicked out further.

(T. 65).

After the officer testified that he initially “observed the smooth pursuit in both eyes,” he continued,

When I moved the pen, his eyes would not – I guess you’d have to see someone – the eyes tend to – or jerk, they jerk, they can’t follow it like a (inaudible) a marble rolling across, it’s very smooth, just smoothly follow the pen and (inaudible). In a non-smooth pursuit his eyes, as I’m moving it slowing like this, cannot follow it at the same speed, cannot track it at that same speed –

....

– in that it tends to be scratchy, lose focus, stop focusing (inaudible).

(T. 66).

Gill saw scratchiness and jerkiness in Christensen’s eyes (T. 66).

Because Christensen would not follow the pen out to a point where Gill wanted him to, and seemed understanding of the instructions but uncooperative, Gill did not complete the HGN test (T. 67-68).

His testimony on this point was,

Okay. Mr. Christensen either was not able to track the pen or would not track the pen to my maximum so I could either observe onset or nystagmus at maximum (inaudible). He wouldn’t follow my pen. So when they won’t follow it all the way out, I can’t observe the maximum, the nystagmus maximum (inaudible). If they are unwilling to follow it further (inaudible) I can’t observe the onset prior (inaudible).

(T. 67).

On cross-examination, he conceded that he did not see nystagmus in Christensen's eyes, and got no result from that test indicating the involvement of alcohol (T. 102).

On the finger count test, Christensen began the test during the instructions when he was not supposed to, performed the test twice when he was supposed to do it three times, and improperly counted some fingers twice and missed a finger once (T. 69-71).

He said that Christensen did not take the ABC test, but said "he could not control himself (inaudible)." (T. 71-72). When the prosecutor asked if Christensen did not know how to say the alphabet, Gill answered, "He said he did not want to take it and (inaudible)." (T. 72). On cross-examination, Gill testified that Christensen said he did not know the alphabet (T. 103).

Based on his inability to take the alphabet test, Gill concluded that Christensen had been driving under the influence (T. 72).

He normally performed five field sobriety tests, but performed only two in this case (T. 105).

Gill and his supervisor decided not to book Christensen on felony fleeing, because they believed he was too intoxicated to have the requisite state of mind (T. 73).

After placing Christensen under arrest for DUI, Gill read him the admonitions on his DUI report form, twice informing Christensen that he was under arrest for DUI (T. 74).

Gill's testimony regarding Christensen's first response to the admonition was

inaudible, and after the second admonition, Christensen told Gill, “I do not drink.” (T. 74-75).

After Gill read the admonition that he might lose his driving privilege, Christensen responded, “I will not submit to this test.” (T. 76). When Gill informed Christensen that he could have his own physician administer the test, and that he could lose his license for refusing, Christensen answered, “I understand.” (T. 77).

When the prosecutor asked Gill what other statements Christensen made, Gill testified,

Yes, and I wrote those comments down. As far as comments go, he (inaudible), “You’re a pain in the ass to me, I’m getting a citation,” (inaudible) initiated as I was putting him in – he asked me (inaudible). The reason I logged his lack of cooperation was due to the fact that he was not completely listening to me (inaudible). I was saying things several times because right in the middle of the conversation he would ask, he would ask (inaudible).

(T. 78-79).

Gill testified that Christensen was angry during portions of the investigation, and became more upset as the investigation continued (T. 79, 100).

Officer Evans testified that he had a good rapport with Christensen, because Christensen was so upset with Officer Gill (T. 137). At some point during the investigation, Mr. Christensen had urinated on himself (T. 138). Evans visited with Christensen after his arrest, and Christensen made no mention of being diabetic (T. 139). He vacillated between wanting to go to jail and not wanting to go to jail, occasionally

seemed angry, and seemed to want to be Evans' friend (T. 140-41).

Evans turned off his video recorder early in the stop, and did not record finding a whiskey bottle (T. 148). He did not prepare a written report, or record Christensen's statements to him (T. 142, 146).

Mr. Christensen maintained at trial that prior to and during the course of his arrest, he was suffering from low blood sugar as a result of his diabetes, and consequently became disoriented, confused, impaired in his judgment, and shaky (T. 155, 160). Prior to his arrest, he stopped at a convenience store and bought some orange juice and a candy bar to raise his blood sugar (T. 155). He was only able to eat about a bite of the candy bar, and get the juice before the stop (T. 161).

The weather conditions caused him very poor visibility, and his side mirrors were fogged and frosted, and he stopped his truck to clear his rear windshield of his camper, when he realized the police were there, with a gun pointed at him (T. 162, 178). He did not know they had been following him, and did not know if he had been speeding, but may have been, given his diabetic condition (T. 162-63). He may not have followed the commands they yelled at him, but he did try to follow them (T. 163).

He had a handicap placard hanging in his truck because of his bad knees, and told the officers that he could not do a heel-to-toe test (T. 163).

He maintained that he did tell the officers that it was impossible that they smelled alcohol on him, because he does not drink because he has diabetes (T. 164).

He asked the officers for his candy bar and orange juice, and did not know if they did not hear him, or misinterpreted his request, but the officers did not give him the juice and candy (T. 164).

Before the HGN test, he told the officer that he could not see well without his glasses (T. 166). He tried to follow the officer's instructions, but could not see the pen well, and may have touched the pen in the middle, when the officer may have asked him to touch it on the top (T. 166). If his eyes were quivery and jerky and not following, this may have been a result of his low blood sugar (T. 167).

He was very angry with Gill and thought he told him he did not know the ABCs when Gill asked him to do the ABC test, and reiterated his refusal to do more tests when Gill discussed the intoxilyzer (T. 167).

The Driver License Division did not take his license, because they did not find that he had refused to take the intoxilyzer (T. 169-170).

He told the officers they could take him to the local hoosegow, but they called his wife to come and get him (T. 171). He denied having urinated in his pants (T. 171).

He did not recall any long conversation with Officer Evans, or the mood swings Evans described, but conceded that those things may have happened, as a result of his low blood sugar (T. 172).

In his truck, there were four shot glasses which he had bought as souvenirs on a trip, but he did not use them (T. 173). He did not know how the empty whiskey bottle

got in the drawer in his camper (T. 180). He had been fishing with a bunch of his friends before the stop, but he did not recall their having been drinking that brand of whiskey (T. 181).

He conceded that he may have been incapable to drive safely because of his diabetes, but maintained that this was not because of alcohol consumption (T. 173).

On cross-examination, the prosecutor asked Christensen about his comments to the officers about his not drinking, and Christensen maintained that he no longer drank, as he did in his younger days (T. 180). He could not remember how long it had been since he had last drunk alcohol, but thought it had been more than five years, and maybe was about ten years ago (T. 180).²

At the prosecutor's request, the court excused the jury (T. 181). The prosecutor asked the court's permission to impeach Christensen with his November 28, 1999 arrest, which resulted in his guilty plea to one count of alcohol related reckless driving (T. 182).

Defense counsel argued that the prior conviction should be excluded under Utah Rule of Evidence 404(b), because a conviction for alcohol related reckless can enter without consumption of alcohol (T. 183).

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