2002

West Valley City, a Utah municipal corporation v. Gordon R. Christensen : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Even if the questions had been asked by the trial court, there is still no evidence of bias against Christensen. The questions were directly related to the evidence and only served to allow Christensen to clarify or explain questions about his defense. Furthermore, such interrogation by the trial court is specifically allowed by Rule 614 of the Utah Rules of Evidence.

II. THE TRIAL COURT JUDGE DID NOT COMMIT PLAIN ERROR IN THIS CASE.

Christensen failed to object at trial to the conduct that he now complains about. Therefore, he must show that a plain error was committed by the trial court in order to raise the issue of bias on appeal. Christensen's entire appeal is based on the argument that the trial court was improperly asking questions of the jury. Since that argument is factually incorrect because the judge was properly reading questions submitted by the jury, there was no error in this case. Since there is no error there can be no "plain error," which is a blatant and obvious error that the court should have recognized. Also, Christensen must show that the outcome of the trial would have been different if his alleged "error" had not occurred. Therefore, he is unable to satisfy the "prejudice" portion of the plain error test. The evidence

against Christensen was overwhelming and even if the trial court committed an error, the error would be harmless.

III. CHRISTENSEN RECEIVED THE BENEFIT OF A COMPETENT DEFENSE WHICH RESULTED IN A FAIR AND JUST TRIAL.

In order to prevail on his argument of ineffective assistance of counsel Christensen must demonstrate that his trial counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that, but for his counsel's unprofessional errors, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been different. He fails to meet either standard.

The only alleged substandard conduct that Christensen points to is his counsel's failure to object to the jury questions presented by the judge. Since such questioning is allowed by law and the questions were not improper, no competent attorney would have objected in that situation.

Christensen can also not meet the second part of the test. The evidence against Christensen was virtually overwhelming and his counsel's objection to the few juror questions that were posed by the court would not have changed the outcome of the trial.

DETAIL OF THE ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT EXHIBIT PREJUDICE OR BIAS TOWARDS CHRISTENSEN WHEN IT ALLOWED THE JURORS TO SUBMIT QUESTIONS TO BE ASKED OF CHRISTENSEN.

The trial court judge in this case exhibited absolutely no bias or prejudice towards Christensen. Christensen's argument to the contrary is like a house of cards. When the foundation cards are removed, all of his arguments will fail.

The foundation for Christensen's appeal is his assertion that the trial court judge improperly questioned Christensen while the jury was present. Christensen believes that the questioning exhibited bias on the part of the judge which then improperly influenced the jury, resulting in Christensen's conviction. While under some circumstances that scenario may provide grounds for a proper appeal, in this case it simply isn't true.

Christensen has his facts wrong. A thorough review of the transcript makes it apparent that the trial court judge asked no questions of his own while the jury was present. What actually occurred was that at the end of the examination of Mr. Christensen, the judge allowed the jurors to submit any questions they may have. It was these juror questions which the court then read that Christensen now points to as evidence of bias. The argument is based on a false premise.

The entire exchange between the trial court judge and Christensen is as follows:

THE COURT: Any further questions?

MR. ROBINSON: No.

THE COURT: All right. Does any member of the jury have a question (inaudible)?

[INAUDIBLE.]

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Christensen, the first question: Why did you refuse to test, that's referring to the breathalyzer test, if you were not intoxicated?

THE WITNESS: Well, at that point I just couldn't understand why my requests were completely ignored and I would keep being asked to take the tests that I didn't think were necessary.

THE COURT: Do you know what your current blood sugar level is?

THE WITNESS: Right now?

THE COURT: Yes.

THE WITNESS: No, but I know it's usually low.

THE COURT: What is considered a normal blood sugar level?

THE WITNESS: On my little ultra tester that I use about 150 to – well, 100 to 150.

THE COURT: Do you know what precipitated your low blood sugar level? Or low blood sugar, I'm sorry.

THE WITNESS: Yes. My doctor told me to lose some weight so I starved myself all day.

THE COURT: Usually diabetes means high blood sugar. Eating sweets would increase your blood sugar level. Is that your understanding?

THE WITNESS: If you have low blood sugar eating sweets will raise it to a normal level.

THE COURT: Will you write the question one more time to make sure I ask the right question? Do you know why your wife didn't testify as to your condition?

THE WITNESS: Well, I know why my wife didn't come out here today because it was her temple day and she had three or four other riders and it was her turn to drive. Every Tuesday they go to the temple.

THE COURT: Any questions from counsel based on questions of (inaudible)?

MR. ALLRED: I have none.

THE COURT: Any other questions of the jury? All right. Mr. Christensen, you may step down (inaudible). (Transcript p. 215-217).

As the transcript above demonstrates, the trial court judge is clearly asking questions that have been submitted by the jury. In fact at one point, the court states "will you write the question one more time to make sure I ask the right question?"). (Transcript p. 216). Christensen characterizes the above exchange as the judge acting as a prosecutor. (Appellant's Brief pp.19, 26). However that is obviously not the case. The judge is simply passing along questions asked by the jurors to help clarify issues that had been raised by previous testimony. There is no case law or coherent argument that such action by the trial court is a demonstration of bias. To the contrary, Utah law allows the judge the discretion to permit jurors to submit questions for witnesses. *State v. Anderson*, 108 Utah 130, 158 P.2d 127, 128 (Utah 1945); *State v. Martinez*, 7 Utah 387, 326 P.2d 102, 103 (Utah 1958). The

foundation of Christensen's house of cards defense is based on a false premise. The wrong assumption that it was the trial court judge making up the questions, not the jurors.

The trial court's actions were consistent throughout the trial. At the end of Officer Gill's testimony, the judge asked the jury if they had any questions of Officer Gill. (Transcript, p. 121). The judge made two similar requests at the end of Officer Evans cross examination testimony and after the re-direct testimony following the judges reading of the juror's questions. (Transcript, p. 147, 151). In response to the judge's offer, several questions were posed by the jury to Officer Evans. These questions were read by the judge in the same manner that he read the juror questions to Christensen. (Transcript, p, 147-148). Treating both sides in the same manner hardly seems to be evidence of bias on the part of the trial court.

It should also be noted, that the questions asked by the jury are not improper. The questions are all logical extensions of previous testimony and are being used by the jurors to clarify certain issues in their minds. A good example is the question about Christensen's refusal to take the intoxilyzer test. Because of Christensen's evasiveness on cross examination, that topic had been the subject of previous confusing testimony. (Transcript p. 202-206, 210-214). The question by the juror was simply to clarify what had been a confusing and often interrupted portion of the testimony. The next several questions related to blood sugar levels and the effect of eating sweets on blood sugar levels. These questions relate directly to Christensen's defense of diabetes and to his previous testimony.

Christensen had testified that sugar “would tend to alleviate the situation more than aggravate it.” (Transcript, p. 198). Apparently the jurors wanted to be clear in their minds about the effects of diabetes and Christensen’s alleged low blood sugar level. Finally, the question regarding why Christensen’s wife did not testify is also perfectly understandable. Christensen’s testimony was very much in doubt. He had been evasive during cross examination and had been forced to admit that portions of his testimony had been mistaken or an outright lie. (Transcript p. 195). Certainly the jury would wonder why his wife was not present to corroborate his story. Christensen was not prejudiced at all by the questions of the jury. They were all questions that could have been asked on either direct or cross examination and provided Christensen with an additional opportunity to correct and misconceptions and clarify his position.

There were several times when the jury was excused that the trial judge directly questioned Christensen, and at least one instance where the judge asked questions in front of the jury, although Christensen does not seem to rely on these instances. (Transcript p. 190). That questioning was also allowable under Utah law. Rule 614(b) of the Utah Rules of Evidence specifically allows the court to interrogate witnesses. This rule allows such interrogation by the court even if the jury is present. The Utah Court of Appeals has stated that “It is within the judge’s prerogative to ‘ask whatever questions of witnesses as in his judgment is necessary or desirable to clarify, explain or add to the evidence as it relates to the disputed issues.’ [citation omitted]” *State v. Boyatt*, 854 P.2d 550, 553 (Utah App. 1993).

In this case, the trial court judge should be given credit for proceeding with the juror questions in a careful and appropriate fashion. The court acted in accordance with the advice of Justice Worthen in his concurring opinion in *Martinez*. Justice Worthen stated:

In my opinion no juror should ever be allowed to ask questions of the witnesses. If a juror indicates that he has a question the court should invite the juror to disclose to the court the question and the court, if the question suggested is *not germane to the issues involved* or is such as would *be clearly improper and therefore prejudicial to the rights of the defendants to a fair and impartial trial* should not permit the question to be propounded. If the question is germane to the issues, and would not be prejudicial to the rights of the defendants to a fair and impartial trial, the judge in turn should ask the question himself.

Martinez, at page 104 (Worthen concurring opinion) (italics in original).

The trial court was not asking questions of Christensen as he asserts in his brief, but rather, was following established Utah law in asking questions propounded by jurors. Therefore no bias, not even the appearance of bias, can be shown on the part of the trial court. The first card in the foundation of Christensen's argument comes tumbling down.

Christensen also cannot satisfy the second part of the bias test and prove that he was prejudiced. Even if the trial court did error, any such error was harmless. The evidence of Christensen's guilt in this case is virtually overwhelming. For example the following evidence had been presented:

- (1) Officer Gill of the West Valley City Police Department testifies that Christensen fails to stop, despite officer Gill's overhead lights and siren, for a

period of ten blocks and while traveling at approximately twice the normal speed limit. (Transcript p. 47-51).

- (2) Christensen was unable to follow simple directions to exit his vehicle. (Transcript p. 53-55, 130-131) .
- (3) Officer Gill and Officer Evans both testify that they detected the odor of alcohol on Christensen. Evans testifies that he can smell alcohol from as far as seven feet away. (Transcript p. 55, 217, 218).
- (4) Officer Gill and Officer Evans testify that an empty bottle of whiskey and shot glasses are found in Christensen's truck. (Transcript p. 57, 135-137)
- (5) Officer Evans testifies that while being processed at the police station Christensen urinates in his pants. (Transcript p. 138, 218).
- (6) Officer Gill testifies that Christensen is unable to perform the field sobriety tests that Officer Gill explains to him. (Transcript p. 68-72).
- (7) Christensen repeatedly gave Officer Gill his wrong age. (Transcript p. 60).
- (8) Christensen refuses to take an intoxilizer test which would have shown his actual blood alcohol level. (Transcript p. 76-79).
- (9) Christensen is the only defense witness and the voracity of his entire testimony is in question because he is caught lying about how long it had been since he consumed alcohol (Transcript p. 195) and his testimony on cross examination is extremely vague and evasive. (Transcript p. 209)

Based on the evidence that had been presented at trial, there is little doubt that Christensen is guilty of driving while under the influence of alcohol. There is also little doubt that the jury would have found him guilty of that crime regardless of the juror questions that were asked by the trial court judge at the conclusion of Christensen's testimony.

Also, the questions that were asked by the jury were entirely appropriate and did not damage Christensen in any way. As was described above, the questions related directly to the evidence and provided Christensen with an additional opportunity to clarify or explain his actions and testimony. The second card in the foundation fails and the entire house of cards that is Christensen's argument falls. His claims of judicial bias are completely without merit and the jury's verdict of this case should be upheld.

II. THE TRIAL COURT JUDGE DID NOT COMMIT PLAIN ERROR IN THIS CASE.

Christensen failed to preserve the issue of judicial bias for review by this court. Therefore, he must establish that a plain error occurred before the issue can even be raised on appeal. In order to prove plain error, Christensen must demonstrate that all three parts of the plain error test have been satisfied. First, he must show that an error occurred; second, he must show that the error should have been obvious to the trial court; third, he must show that error had not occurred and there is a reasonable likelihood that Christensen would have been

found not guilty. Tueller at ¶9; *State v. Dunn*, 850 P.2d 1201, 1208-1209 (Utah 1993).

Christensen fails on all three prongs of the plain error test.

No error occurred in this case. Trial court judges have the discretion to allow questions by jurors. The Utah Supreme Court in the *Anderson* case stated that “whether a jury would be permitted to ask questions of the witnesses within the discretion of the trial court.” The court did go on to note that if the questions are not germane to the issues involved or are clearly improper that that may be an error on the part of the trial court. *Anderson*, at 133.

As is shown in the transcript quoted above, the questioning of Christensen by jurors was not extensive nor was it improper. The few questions that were asked by jurors were primarily designed to clarify issues which had been addressed by prior testimony. Since allowing the questioning was within the sound discretion of the trial court and the questions themselves were not improper, there is simply no error in this case.

Christensen also fails to satisfy the second prong of the plain error test. Christensen argues that the error by the trial court was obvious. However, the only factor he can point to are the juror questions which were asked by the trial court judge. As was set forth in the previous argument, the trial court was within its discretion in allowing the jurors to submit questions to Christensen. That action by the trial court in and of itself does not constitute an error at all, let alone an obvious error.

Finally, Christensen makes no credible argument that the outcome would have been different had the jurors not been allowed to ask questions. As was set forth in the argument above, the evidence of guilt is virtually overwhelming. The questions that the jurors asked of Christensen demonstrate that they were already questioning his defense. All of the questions related directly to concerns about his previous testimony and its lack of corroboration and actually provided him with an additional opportunity to clarify or explain his testimony.

Based on the foregoing, it is clear that no error occurred as suggested by Christensen and that even if the trial court's decision to allow juror questions was in error, the outcome of the trial was not affected. Christensen has failed to meet the plain error standard and therefore the issue of judicial bias should not be addressed on appeal. The verdict of the jury in this case should be upheld.

III. CHRISTENSEN RECEIVED THE BENEFIT OF A COMPETENT DEFENSE WHICH RESULTED IN A FAIR AND JUST TRIAL.

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